

Staff Code of Conduct

Owner:	Surmaster	Date of last review:	06/24
Consulted:	Core Strategy Group Selected SPS Exec members Selected SPJ SLT members	Date of authorisation:	08/24
Authorised by:	Full Governing Body	Date of next review:	06/25
Applicable to:	SPS & SPJ		

This policy is available on the Handbook page of the School Intranet and policies page of the School website and can be made available in large print or other accessible format if required; such requests can be made by email to <u>policyquery@stpaulsschool.org.uk</u>. This policy must be read, understood, and followed by all staff and volunteers. If any staff member or volunteer has any questions or comments in relation to this document, please contact <u>smpa@stpaulsschool.org.uk</u>.

Contents

1.	Background Information	. 3
2.	Underpinning Principles	
3.	Duty of Care	.4
4.	Exercise of Professional Judgement and Training	.4
5.	Power and Positions of Trust	.5
6.	General Conduct	. 5
7.	Sexual Contact with Young People	.6
8.	Grooming and Sexual Communication with Children	.7
9.	Confidentiality	.7

10.	Propriety and Behaviour	8
11.	Conflict of Interests, Gifts & Hospitatlity	9
12.	Social Contact	11
13.	Physical Contact	13
14.	Changing Areas and Washrooms	15
15.	Behaviour Management	16
16.	Care, Control, Physical Intervention and use of 'Reasonable Force'	16
17.	One to One Situations	17
18.	Transporting Children	18
19.	Boarding, Educational Visits, Sports and After School Activities	18
20.	First Aid and Administration of Medication	20
21.	The Curriculum	21
22.	Photography, Videos and other media	22
23.	Use of the School IT Systems, Including Internet Use and Digital Communication with Pupils	23
24.	Whistleblowing	26
25.	Sharing Concerns and Recording Incidents	27
26.	Disclosure and Barring Service Checks	27
27.	Low Level Concerns	27
28.	Appearance	29
29.	Infatuations and Crushes	30
30.	Home visits	31
31.	Exposure to inappropriate images	31
32.	Personal living accommodation (including on-site provision)	22

1. Background Information

- 1.1 This document has been drawn from the DfE guidance (2005) which was produced by the National Network of Investigation and Referral Support Co-ordinators and the document Guidance for Safer Working Practice for Adults who work with Children and Young People in Education Settings (updated February 2022). It also reflects the requirements of the relevant sections of the Education (Independent Schools Standards) Regulations (England) (2015) and the Independent School Standards Guidance for Independent Schools (April 2019). The guidance recognises that the vast majority of adults working with children in education settings act professionally, seeking to provide a safe and supportive environment to secure the wellbeing and best outcomes for the young people. They have a unique opportunity to interact with children and young people in ways that are both affirming and inspiring. This guidance has been produced to help staff establish the safest possible learning and working environments. The aims are to safeguard young people and reduce the risk of staff being falsely accused of improper or unprofessional conduct.
- 1.2 This Code of Conduct applies to all members of staff working at St Paul's School (SPS) and St Paul's Juniors (SPJ), including St Paul's Boarding Houses (hereafter referred to as the "School"). This includes: teaching staff; support staff; temporary part-time workers; contractors; volunteers and members of the Board of Governors (hereafter referred to as "staff").
- 1.3 This Code of Conduct must be provided to all staff on induction, so that they are clear about professional conduct and boundaries.

2. Underpinning Principles

- 2.1 The welfare of the child is paramount (Children Act 1989).
- 2.2 Staff are responsible for their own actions and behaviour and should avoid any conduct which would lead any reasonable person to question their motivation and intentions.
- 2.3 Staff should work, and be seen to work, in an open and transparent way.
- 2.4 Staff should submit a Low-Level Concern (See section 27) and discuss, and/or take advice promptly from their Head of Department, Line Manager, the Designated Safeguarding Lead, the High Master, Head or Surmaster (as appropriate), over any incident which may give rise to concern.
- 2.5 Records should be made of any such incident and of decisions made/further actions agreed, in accordance with the School's Data Protection Policy.
- 2.6 All staff are made aware of the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) at St Paul's, who is the Lead DSL across St Paul's and St Paul's Juniors. At St Paul's Juniors the Senior Deputy Head is the DSL. Full contact details for the Lead DSL, DSL and all Deputy DSLs are set out in section 1 of the Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy, which is available on the School intranet and on the website. All staff should be familiar with local child protection arrangements and understand

their responsibilities to safeguard and protect children. This information is also contained in the Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy.

- 2.7 Staff should be aware that breaches of the law and other professional guidelines could result in criminal or disciplinary action being taken against them. The School's Disciplinary Procedure (Conduct) document is on the Handbook page (HR section) of the School intranet and contains specific examples of offences which are normally regarded as gross misconduct. The Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy outlines the School's responsibilities and procedures for reporting to external agencies allegations of practices or behaviour which have put (or may have put) pupils at risk of significant harm.
- 2.8 The ICT Acceptable Use Policy provides further guidance on safe use of ICT.

3. Duty of Care

- 3.1 All staff have a duty to keep young people safe and to protect them from physical and emotional harm. This duty is in part exercised through the development of respectful, caring, and professional relationships between staff and pupils and behaviour by staff that demonstrates integrity, maturity, and good judgement.
- 3.2 Employers have a duty of care towards their employees under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 which requires them to provide a safe working environment for staff and guidance about safe working practices. The Act also imposes a duty on employees to take care of themselves and anyone else who may be affected by their actions or failings. In this respect, the duty of care towards both staff and children can be demonstrated through the use of these guidelines.

4. Exercise of Professional Judgement and Training

- 4.1 Staff should always maintain appropriate professional boundaries, avoid behaviour which could be misinterpreted by pupils or others and report any such incident using the School's Low-Level Concern procedures (see section 27). This is as relevant in the online world as it is in the classroom; staff engaging with pupils and/or parents online have a responsibility to model safe practice at all times.
- 4.2 This guidance cannot provide a complete checklist of what is, or is not, appropriate behaviour for staff. It does highlight, however, behaviour that is illegal, inappropriate, or inadvisable. There will be occasions and circumstances in which staff have to make decisions, or take action, in the best interests of the child or young person which could contravene this guidance or where no guidance exists.
- 4.3 The School recognises the importance of appropriate training in informing teachers' professional judgement. The Surmaster is responsible for ensuring that all staff who are new to the School receive training in this Code of Conduct, the Safeguarding and Child Protection policy, Whistleblowing procedures, and Acceptable use of ICT as part of the induction process. This training will also include informing staff about behaviour which may constitute serious

misconduct, as outlined in the School's Disciplinary Procedure (Conduct). The lead DSL is responsible for ensuring that all staff are informed of any substantive changes to policies and guidelines which relate to child protection and safe working with children. The lead DSL will provide refresher training throughout the academic year, or as appropriate.

5. Power and Positions of Trust

- 5.1 As a result of their knowledge, position and/or the authority invested in their role, all adults working with children and young people in education settings are in positions of trust in relation to the young people in their care. A relationship between a member of staff and a pupil cannot be a relationship between equals. There is potential for exploitation and harm of vulnerable young people and staff have a responsibility to ensure that an unequal balance of power is not used for personal advantage or gratification.
- 5.2 Staff should always avoid behaviour which might be misinterpreted by others, and report and record any incident with this potential by submitting a Low-Level Concern (see section 27).

6. General Conduct

- 6.1 The staff Code of Conduct promotes the safety, welfare and good physical and mental health of staff and pupils. The school educates pupils to understand the effect and risks associated with alcohol and tobacco in relation to their health, wellbeing, and the law and that the use of illegal drugs is, or may be, a criminal offence and will be harmful to their health, integrity, independence, opportunities, and careers as well as damaging the society in which they live. Staff are expected to promote this view and act as responsible role models.
- 6.2 Smoking: the school has obligations to ensure the wellbeing of all members of staff and pupils. To facilitate this, and in the interests of providing a pleasant environment for all, the school prohibits smoking (to include the smoking of e-cigarettes or vaping) and use of any other smoking related product (such as nicotine substitutes) or paraphernalia on all school premises at any time. Staff should not smoke (to include the smoking of e-cigarettes or vaping) within sight of pupils during trips, visits or when otherwise discharging their professional duties off the school site.
- 6.3 Alcohol: staff must not, under any circumstances, consume or be under the influence of any alcohol when pupils are present, or within their care, or at any other time when carrying out their professional duties. Please refer to the Alcohol Policy for further guidance.
- 6.4 Drugs and substances: for the purposes of this policy 'drugs' covers controlled drugs and the paraphernalia of drugs, psychoactive substances or substances intended to resemble drugs, or 'legal' drugs which can be obtained from a chemist shop, performance enhancing drugs, anabolic steroids, glue, and other substances held or supplied in each case for purposes of misuse.

Controlled substances: it is a criminal offence to use, possess or deal in any controlled substances and anyone found through the disciplinary procedure to be involved in any of these

activities, whether during or outside working hours, will normally be dismissed for gross misconduct. The school will notify the police where appropriate.

The school does not permit drugs (as defined above), other than prescribed drugs, to be used or stored on school premises; if in any doubt, please consult your line manager/HR before bringing any drugs onto the school site. All prescribed drugs, or other legal medications (e.g., paracetamol), must be stored appropriately when on the school site to prevent access by others. Any prescribed Controlled Drug (e.g., Ritalin) that is brought to the school site by a staff member must be clearly labelled, and stored safely, securely and in such a way that they cannot be accessed by pupils or other members of staff. A staff member who needs to take a Controlled Drug during the school day should therefore ensure the medication is kept locked away appropriately for instance in the locked drawer of their desk, or other locked container; or should contact the Health Centre for assistance. Under no circumstances is the sale of drugs (prescribed or not) permitted.

It is strictly forbidden to come to work, or to remain at work, under the influence of any drug (as defined above); if in any doubt, please consult your line manager/HR before coming to work. If you have been prescribed drugs whose side effects could have an impact on your work or behaviour, you should report this immediately to your line manager/HR. If the school considers that you are under the influence of any drug (including prescribed drugs which have, or could have, affected your work or behaviour, and of which you have failed to notify your line manager/HR), disciplinary action will normally be taken, which could render a member of staff liable to summary dismissal after an appropriate hearing.

- 6.5 Staff must not engage in conduct (including through other employment) outside work which could reasonably be expected to damage the reputation and standing of the school. Staff must exercise caution when using information technology, including social networking sites, and be aware of the risks to themselves and others.
- 6.6 Staff have a professional duty to set a responsible example to pupils. Staff should not put themselves in a position which may compromise their professional status. Staff should bear in mind that most pupils have mobile recording and photographic technology to hand, and the potential this has for comments or actions to be recorded out of context.
- 6.7 On occasions when adults are socialising in groups, in public locations, it is important that professional standards are maintained, and no opportunity is given to pupils to compromise these.
- 6.8 Staff must inform the High Master immediately if they are arrested or subject to a criminal conviction or caution. Where safeguarding concerns arise, the High Master will carry out a formal risk assessment to identify and mitigate any potential risk to pupils and staff.

7. Sexual Contact with Young People

7.1 Any sexual behaviour by a member of staff with or towards a child or young person is both inappropriate and illegal.

- 7.2 The Sexual Offences Act 2003 makes it an offence for a person aged 18 or over (e.g. teacher, language assistant, GAP assistant) to have a sexual relationship with a child under 18 where that person is in a position of trust in respect of that child, even if the relationship is consensual. A situation where a person is in a position of trust could arise where the child is in full-time education and the person looks after children in the same establishment as the child, even if they do not teach the child.
- 7.3 It is also an offence to involve children in looking at, or in the production of, sexual images, watching sexual activities, encouraging children to behave in sexually inappropriate ways, or grooming a child in preparation for abuse (including via the internet). Sexual abuse is not solely perpetrated by adult males; any adult can commit acts of sexual abuse, as can other children.

8. Grooming and Sexual Communication with Children

- 8.1 Grooming is the process by which an individual prepares a child, significant adults, and the environment for abuse of this child. All staff should be aware of the paradigm patterns of grooming which are listed in the Safeguarding and Child Protection procedures. All staff should try as far as possible not to do anything (such as conferring special attention and favour upon a child, gift giving, inappropriate social contact) which might be construed as being part of a grooming process.
- 8.2 Staff should also avoid any form of communication with a child which could be interpreted as sexually suggestive or provocative, either in verbal comments, letters, notes, electronic mail, phone calls, texts, social media, or through inappropriate physical contact.

9. Confidentiality

- 9.1 Members of staff may have access to personal details about pupils in order to undertake their everyday responsibilities. In some circumstances, staff may be given additional highly sensitive or private information. Such information should be treated in a discreet and confidential manner. In particular, staff should never use online media to discuss pupils, colleagues, parents, or carers or to criticise colleagues, the School's leadership team or others within the School community.
- 9.2 To help ensure sensitive data is suitably protected, staff are expected to:
 - use strong passwords for digital accounts which are changed regularly;
 - Protect mobile devices with a password or PIN, whether in or outside of School, to protect access to its content and prevent potential misuse;
- 9.3 Confidential information about a child or young person should never be used casually in conversation or shared with any person other than on a need-to-know basis. In circumstances where the child's identity does not need to be disclosed, the information should be used anonymously.

- 9.4 There are some circumstances in which a member of staff may be expected to share information about a child, for example when abuse is alleged or suspected. In such cases, individuals have a duty to pass information on without delay, in accordance with the Safeguarding and Child Protection Policy.
- 9.5 If a member of staff is in any doubt about whether to share information, or keep it confidential, they should seek guidance from one of the DSLs.
- 9.6 The storing and processing of personal information about pupils is governed by the Data Protection Act (DPA) 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulations – see the Data Protection Policy in the Integrated Safeguarding Portfolio section of the Staff Handbook. Those staff who need to share 'special category personal data' should be aware that the DPA 2018 contains 'safeguarding of children and individuals at risk' as a processing condition. This allows practitioners to share information without consent, if it is not possible to gain consent, it cannot be reasonably expected that a practitioner gains consent, or if to gain consent would place a child at risk. In practice, the sharing of such information will normally be restricted to the DSL, Deputy DSL, or other nominated members of the School's Pastoral Management team. Information Sharing: Advice for Practitioners Providing Safeguarding Services to Children, Young People, Parents and Carers provides further guidance.
- 9.7 The booklet <u>What To Do If You're Worried A Child Is Being Abused</u> (2015) contains further guidance on sharing information to protect children.

10. Propriety and Behaviour

10.1 The <u>DfE Teachers' Standards</u> include the following section on Personal and Professional Conduct; **this section applies equally to all school staff** in their interactions with all members of the school community.

A teacher is expected to demonstrate consistently high standards of personal and professional conduct. The following statements define the behaviour and attitudes which set the required standard for conduct throughout a teacher's career.

- Teachers uphold public trust in the profession and maintain high standards of ethics and behaviour, within and outside school, by:
 - treating pupils with dignity, building relationships rooted in mutual respect, and at all times observing proper boundaries appropriate to a teacher's professional position;
 - having regard for the need to safeguard pupils' well-being, in accordance with statutory provisions;
 - showing tolerance of and respect for the rights of others;
 - not undermining fundamental British values, including democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty and mutual respect, and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs;
 - ensuring that personal beliefs are not expressed in ways which exploit pupils' vulnerability or might lead them to break the law.

- Teachers must have proper and professional regard for the ethos, policies, and practices of the school in which they teach, and maintain high standards in their own attendance and punctuality.
- Teachers must have an understanding of, and always act within, the statutory frameworks which set out their professional duties and responsibilities.
- 10.2 Further, the Education (Independent Schools Standards) (England) Regulations (ISSRs) (2014) places a responsibility on the School and its staff to:
 - Actively promote the fundamental British values of democracy, the rule of law, individual liberty, and mutual respect and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs;
 - Not discriminate against pupils on the basis of protected characteristics, which include: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation.
- 10.3 The School rejects absolutely any form of prejudiced discrimination, intolerance of difference and any form of bullying, harassment or abuse related to race, gender, sexuality, or other characteristic protected under the Equality Act (2010). Staff must model fair-minded, generous, and inclusive interactions, and must uphold the Pupil Behaviour Code and Anti-Bullying policy by appropriately challenging or reporting pupil attitudes or behaviours in breach of these standards, for instance the use of misogynistic or racist language. In addition, in accordance with the Safeguarding and Child Protection policy, staff must remain alert to the signs that a child has been the victim or perpetrator of any form of harassment or abuse, including peer on peer abuse, and including sexual harassment, assault or other harmful sexual behaviour. The School holds a zero-tolerance position on any form of sexual abuse, and will proceed on both a safeguarding and disciplinary basis as appropriate in accordance with DfE guidelines.

11. Conflict of Interests, Gifts & Hospitality

- 11.1 A conflict of interests may arise where an individual's personal, family or business interests and/or loyalties conflict (or may conflict) with those of the School. Such conflicts can create problems by inhibiting free discussion; resulting in decisions or actions which are not in the best interests of the School and risking the impression that the School has acted improperly.
- 11.2 The School's 'Register of Interests' is a formal record which allows for the declaration of any possible conflict of interests while discharging professional duties. All staff have obligations of loyalty and mutual trust and confidence to the School; these, and the associated actions, are set out in the School's 'Conflict of Interests' policy, with which all staff should be familiar. All staff are required to report relevant interests, which will be recorded in the 'Register of Interests'. If member of staff is uncertain as to whether they should notify the School about a particular circumstance they should discuss the matter with the High Master / Head of SPJ, who will then decide whether the matter should be entered in the School's 'Register of Interests'.

- 11.3 From time-to-time parents or pupils may offer members of staff gifts on an individual basis as a demonstration of their gratitude for the work done on their behalf, and this is perfectly legitimate. However, in some contexts such gifts could be construed as an improper inducement to, for instance, accord preferential treatment in the future. Consequently, it is necessary for the School to have rules applying to such gifts. These are set out in detail in the School's 'Gifts and Hospitality' policy, with which all staff should be familiar. In particular, please note:
 - Any gifts of cash of whatever value, or any other gifts of a total value over £100, must be declared on the Gifts and Hospitality Register via completion of an online form. The form can be accessed via the SPS Staff Handbook. Gifts of cash must be donated to the School or the School's nominated charity. The parent should be thanked for their cash gift and informed that it is being donated to the School or the School's nominated charity. You may retain any other gifts, although gifts of a total value over £500 should not be accepted without the prior approval of the High Master.
 - Any gifts from a group of parents that exceed an average value of £25 per pupil must be declared on the Gifts and Hospitality Register via completion of the online form. Other than cash gifts (see above), such gifts may be retained, although gifts of a total value over £500 should not be accepted without the prior approval of the High Master.
 - You may retain gifts received from suppliers if they are token work-related items e.g. pens, notepads, flash drives, desk calendars or diaries. Any other gifts should be politely refused or donated to the School or the School's nominated charity. In either case the Finance Director should be notified by email, and if the gift is being donated to charity, then the giver of the gift should be told that this is the case.
- 11.4 Staff should not put themselves in a position where it might appear that they are showing favouritism to one or more pupils. In particular, members of staff should not give gifts to individual pupils as doing so may give rise to concerns about grooming. As far as possible, be consistent and transparent in how you reward pupils or otherwise foster teacher-pupil relationships. In addition, be aware of the potential for a pupil to form an unsolicited, emotionally-dependent, attachment to a teacher. If pastoral interactions with a pupil become inappropriate or difficult, then the DSL, should be immediately informed and guidance sought. The circumstances should be recorded in writing by submitting a Low-Level Concern (see section 27) and, if necessary, a note placed on the child's file.

12. Social Contact

- 12.1 Members of staff must not establish or seek to establish social contact with pupils, or former pupils, while they remain of school age; for example, former pupils of SPJ who have left the School or pupils at the Senior School who have left the School before the end of the U8 year. If a pupil seeks to establish social contact, or if this occurs coincidentally, the member of staff should contact the DSL immediately and, where appropriate, submit a Low-Level Concern (see section 27).
- 12.2 Pupils are deemed to have left the School, and to have become Old Paulines, following the last day of the summer holiday, after the summer term of their final year at School; for the avoidance of doubt, the date that pupils become Old Paulines is 1st September. Social contact between staff and Old Paulines is not usually a matter for the School. However, were an intimate or sexual relationship to develop between a member of staff and a former pupil within two years of them leaving the School at the end of their Upper Eight year, then this would raise concerns about possible abuse of the staff member's professional position in grooming the young person whilst at School. Any such concerns would be referred by the School to the LADO and may lead to disciplinary action being taken against the member of staff after an appropriate hearing.
- 12.3 It is not advisable for members of staff to reach out and make, or reciprocate, social contact with Old Paulines until a period of 12 months has elapsed from the point the former pupil leaves (or would have left) the school at the end of their Upper Eighth year. Staff should be aware that making social contact with former pupils within this period of time has the potential to be misconstrued and could raise concerns amongst colleagues. If in doubt staff members should contact the DSL for advice.
- 12.4 Staff must not share their personal contact details, such as home/mobile phone number, home, or personal e-mail address, with pupils. Staff must not have pupil phone numbers on personal phones. School mobile phones, or a central School contact number, must be used in situations where staff/pupils may require an emergency contact number, such as during a school fixture, day trip or residential trip.

Any member of staff who unintentionally shares their personal contact details with a pupil must record the incident using the School's Low Level Concern form.

- 12.5 Staff must not share their personal contact details, such as home/mobile phone number or personal e-mail address, with parents. The school recognises that not all members of staff have easy access to a school landline. For those staff who fall into this category the following options are available:
 - In SPS, landlines are available for staff to use in the HR meeting rooms when these rooms are not in use. They are located next to the Staff Room in the Senior School.
 - In SPS, contact the appropriate Undermaster for that parent and arrange to use their office landline to make the call.
 - In SPJ, a landline is available in the Marking Room located on the third floor of the Icthys building.

• In SPJ, contact the appropriate Head of Year for that parent and arrange to use their office landline to make the call.

If a school landline is unavailable then staff should use the appropriate 'Hide caller ID' function on their personal mobile device, such as using 141 before the number you are dialling.

As with any emergency situation, if a delay in calling a parent would increase the risk of harm to a child, then staff should not hesitate in making the call with their own personal device if this is the only option available to them. This should then be logged using the School's Low Level Concern form.

- 12.6 In exceptional cases, and only with the prior authorisation of the DSL, it is permissible for a member of staff to share a dedicated school mobile contact number for use during school hours with a pupil whose welfare is of concern, as part of a risk management plan. In all such cases, in advance of sharing a dedicated school mobile contact number, the intention to share the number must be:
 - authorised by the DSL (and any other senior managers as required by the DSL);
 - notified and explained to parents if deemed not to put the pupil at further risk;
 - explained to the pupil concerned via a written or oral briefing, so it is clear to them how and when they may use the dedicated school mobile contact details and that the details must not be shared with others.

It is advisable for staff to retain records of such authorisations, notifications and the details of the explanation given to pupils. Staff should also seek advice in advance from the DSL regarding the content of the explanatory briefings given to pupils.

- 12.7 Staff must maintain the highest professional standards at School social events, and they must not continue to socialise with pupils after the official finishing time or at alternative locations.
- 12.8 Staff must politely decline any invitation to attend a pupil's family home unless this has been sanctioned in advance by the DSL (also see section 12.9).
- 12.9 The relationship between tutors and parents helps provide a personal face to the School. Approachability and trust are vital, and parents should feel comfortable contacting the tutor through normal school channels, and vice versa. An open and honest relationship with parents can also help provide an insight into a boy's home life. A good, friendly rapport is to be encouraged, and tutors should use School based opportunities, such as parents' evenings, information evenings and co-curricular events involving their tutees, to help build these relationships.
- 12.10 Individual staff must politely decline any parental invitation to socialise informally, such as dinner or drinks, in restaurants or elsewhere, or offers of hospitality at events (also see section 12.9). The practice of socialising informally with parents carries with it the risk of blurring professional boundaries and this is not necessarily in the best interests of the child. In managing the parent-staff relationship, staff should be aware of appropriate professional boundaries and

feel confident in holding to them. Advice is available, as required, from the SPS Deputy Head Pastoral, SPJ Senior Deputy or Surmaster.

- 12.11 Some staff, or a member of their family (for example where a member of staff is a Pauline parent), may have established family friendships/relationships with current parents and/or current pupils. In these circumstances, social contact, which may include visiting the family home, is acceptable, though staff must always be mindful of maintaining appropriate professional boundaries and confidences. Such friendships/relationships must be formally declared at the start of each academic year via an annual Low-Level Concern 'Declaration of Interests' (see section 27.7). Advice is also available, as required, from the SPS Deputy Head Pastoral, SPJ Senior Deputy or Surmaster.
- 12.12 Situations may arise where groups of parents invite multiple members of staff to social functions outside of school, with or without the presence of pupils. For example, a group of parents who wish to recognise the contribution of staff to the success of a sports team. For any informal social function involving staff and parents (whether pupils will be present or not) the first step is always to contact the DSL (SPS) or Senior Deputy Head (SPJ), to provide details of the invitation, to seek advice and request permission to attend. For the avoidance of doubt, the following constraints will always apply:
 - All events involving a single member of staff will be declined;
 - All events at a parental home, regardless of the numbers of parents and staff present, will be declined;
 - All staff members must abstain from alcohol on the day of the event, until the completion of the event, when they are no longer in the company of parents and pupils and any professional responsibilities have been discharged.

If permission to attend the event is granted, 'best practice' reminders will be provided to attendees in advance by the DSL. These might include:

- In a social setting, professional boundaries can slip in conversation be mindful of reputational damage to yourself and the School;
- Do not use a personal device to take photographs during the evening if pupils are in the image;
- Any gift received must be dealt with as set out in the 'Gifts and Hospitality' policy (also see section 11.3)
- Submit a Low-Level Concern on the day following the event for transparency and remember to flag anything that, on reflection, you feel is noteworthy.

13. Physical Contact

- 13.1 There are occasions when it is entirely appropriate and proper for staff to have physical contact with pupils, but it is crucial that they only do so in ways appropriate to their professional role.
- 13.2 A 'no touch' approach is impractical for most staff and may in some circumstances be inappropriate. When physical contact is made with pupils this should be in response to their

needs at the time, of limited duration and appropriate given their age, stage of development, gender, ethnicity, and background.

- 13.3 It is not possible to be specific about the appropriateness of each physical contact, since an action that is appropriate with one child in one set of circumstances may be inappropriate in another, or with a different child. Staff should therefore use their professional judgement at all times.
- 13.4 Physical contact should never be secretive, or for the gratification of the adult, or represent a misuse of authority. If a member of staff believes that an action could be misinterpreted, the DSL should be informed of the incident and a Low-Level Concern (see section 27) submitted as soon as possible and, if appropriate, a copy placed on the child's file.
- 13.5 Physical contact may be appropriate where a pupil is in distress and needs comforting or if a member of staff has to give first aid. This is sometimes unavoidable with young children. Staff should remain self-aware at all times in order that their contact is not threatening, intrusive or subject to misinterpretation. Staff should listen, observe, and take note of the child's reaction or feelings, and so far as possible, use a level of contact or form of communication which is acceptable to the pupil and their job role. Parents should always be informed when first aid has been administered. Staff should use their own professional judgment when they feel a pupil needs this kind of support and should be aware of any special circumstances relating to the pupil. Particular care must be taken in instances which involve the same pupil over a period of time.
- 13.6 In certain curriculum areas, such as PE/games, music and drama, staff may need to initiate some physical contact with children, for example to support a child so that they can perform a task safely, to demonstrate the use of a particular piece of equipment/instrument or assist them with an exercise. Physical contact should only take place when it is necessary in relation to a particular activity, it should be for the minimum time necessary to complete the activity and take place in an open environment (see section 17, one-to-one situations, below). Contact should be relevant to a pupil's age and understanding and staff should at all times remain sensitive to any discomfort expressed verbally or non-verbally by the pupil.
- 13.7 Physical contact which occurs regularly with an individual child or young person is likely to raise questions unless the justification for this is part of a formally agreed plan (for example in relation to pupils with SEN or physical disabilities). Any such contact should be the subject of an agreed School risk management plan and subject to review. Where feasible, staff should seek the child's permission before initiating contact. Staff should listen, observe, and take note of the child's reaction or feelings and so far as is possible use a level of contact which is acceptable to the child for the minimum time necessary.
- 13.8 Extra caution may be required where it is known that a child has suffered previous abuse or neglect. In the child's view, physical contact might be associated with such experiences and lead to staff being vulnerable to allegations of abuse.
- 13.9 It is recognised that some children may seek out inappropriate physical contact. In such circumstances staff should deter the child sensitively by helping them to understand the

importance of personal boundaries, and also inform the DSL of the incident by submitting a Low-Level Concern (see section 27).

13.10 The general culture of 'limited touch' should be adapted, where appropriate, to the individual requirements of each child. Children with special needs may require more physical contact to assist their everyday learning. The arrangements should be understood and agreed by all concerned, justified in terms of the child's needs, consistently applied and open to scrutiny.

14. Changing Areas and Washrooms

(Including shower and toilet areas and drama dressing rooms and backstage areas)

- 14.1 Young people are entitled to respect and privacy when changing clothes, using the toilet, or taking a shower. However, there needs to be an appropriate level of supervision in order to safeguard young people, satisfy health and safety considerations and ensure that bullying or teasing does not occur. This supervision should be appropriate to the needs and age of the young people concerned and sensitive to the potential for embarrassment.
- 14.2 In the Senior School, when supervising pupils using the changing rooms, staff should place themselves outside the main changing area, i.e. in the corridor or locker area, and not inside the changing rooms, toilets, or shower areas. Staff should enter the changing rooms, toilets, or shower areas only in an emergency or when addressing genuine concerns about a child's safety or welfare, or where there is reasonable suspicion of a serious breach of School discipline. Wherever possible, the staff member should seek support from a colleague so that they are not working alone.

In the Junior School, when supervising pupils using the changing rooms for PE, staff should place themselves at the entrance to the changing room. When supervising pupils changing for swimming, staff should place themselves outside of the changing room next to the entrance. When supervising pupils using the changing rooms for Games, staff should routinely patrol the changing rooms in order to manage behaviour. There should be a minimum of two staff supervising each changing room when pupils are changing for Games. For PE and swimming, there may only be one member of staff supervising. If a member of staff needs to enter the main changing room during swimming or PE, they should do so in line with the Senior School guidance above.

- 14.3 During production week for all drama productions, colleagues may at times have to enter dressing rooms to speak to members of the cast. They should knock, wait for permission to enter, and remain in the dressing room for as little time as is necessary. If, when they enter, a pupil is in a state of undress, they should leave immediately. The backstage corridor areas are places where pupils (as well as participating children from other schools) often need to circulate half-way through dressing for a show; staff should apply their professional judgement in these areas and ensure that they are never alone with a single pupil in a situation which could be misconstrued or compromising.
- 14.4 Members of staff should not use the pupils' toilets during school hours, or when pupils are in the school building. When using external facilities for games and sports or other trips, the time

spent in shared public changing rooms or toilets should be kept to a minimum. Where practicable, staff-pupil use of such facilities should be deliberately staggered so as not to coincide.

- 14.5 In line with agreed pupil management procedures, it is acceptable for senior staff, duty staff, or staff with specific responsibility for a changing area (e.g. PE/games coaches), to periodically check changing areas or washrooms to confirm that they are being used/occupied appropriately.
- 14.6 If a member of staff believes their actions in any of these areas could be misinterpreted, the DSL should be informed of the incident and a Low-Level Concern (see section 27) submitted as soon as possible and, if appropriate, a copy placed on the child's file.

15. Behaviour Management

- 15.1 All pupils have a right to be treated with respect and dignity. Corporal punishment is unlawful in all schools. Equally, staff should not use any form of degrading treatment to punish a pupil. Whilst the use of humour can help to defuse a situation, the use of demeaning or insensitive comments towards pupils is not acceptable in any situation. Staff should be aware that the School's anti-bullying policy applies to all members of the School community (pupils, parents, and staff).
- 15.2 Where a pupil's behaviour causes concern, the School's behaviour, rewards, and sanctions policy should be adhered to (see the Staff Handbook on the Intranet). If a member of staff is in any doubt as to the best course of action, he or she should seek further advice from a member of the Undermaster team or the DSL. At St Paul's Juniors guidance may be sought from any member of the Senior Pastoral team.

16. Care, Control, Physical Intervention, and use of 'Reasonable Force'

- 16.1 The circumstances in which staff can intervene with a pupil are covered by the 1996 Education Act. Further advice is contained in the DfE non-statutory advice document: *Use of reasonable force (July 2013)*. All staff are expected to read and follow this advice. Staff may legitimately intervene to prevent a pupil from committing a criminal offence, injuring themselves or others, causing damage to property, engaging in behaviour prejudicial to good order and to maintain good order and discipline. Staff should have regard to the health and safety of themselves and others. This applies when staff are on School premises and when they are in charge of pupils elsewhere, for example on a School trip or other authorised out of School activity.
- 16.2 Under no circumstances should physical force be used as a form of punishment. The use of unwarranted physical force is likely to constitute a criminal offence.
- 16.3 The term 'reasonable force' covers the broad range of actions used by staff that involve a degree of physical contact to control or restrain children. This can range from guiding a child to safety by the arm, to more extreme circumstances such as breaking up a fight or where a young person needs to be restrained to prevent violence or injury. 'Reasonable' in these circumstances means

'using no more force than is needed'. The use of force may involve either passive physical contact, such as standing between pupils or blocking a pupil's path, or active physical contact such as leading a pupil by the arm out of the classroom. Reasonable force is only appropriate where no other form of control or restraint is available and where it may be necessary to intervene. Any force used must always be the minimum needed to achieve the desired result and must be appropriate for the age, sex and understanding of the pupil and in keeping with the School's Behaviour, Rewards and Sanctions Policy.

- 16.4 Before intervening physically a member of staff must, where practicable, tell the pupil to stop and what will happen if they do not. The member of staff must continue attempting to communicate with the pupil throughout the incident and must make it clear that physical contact or restraint will stop as soon as it ceases to be necessary.
- 16.5 In all cases where physical intervention is deemed necessary at SPS, the incident and subsequent actions should be documented and reported to the High Master, or, in their absence, the Surmaster, the DSL, or a Deputy DSL via a Low-Level Concern (see section 27). At St Paul's Juniors such actions should be reported to the Head, or, in their absence, the Senior Deputy Head (who is also the SPJ DSL) via a Low-Level Concern.

17. One-to-One Situations

- 17.1 Staff working in one-to-one situations with children and young people present a higher level of safeguarding risk. Teachers and others should recognise this possibility and plan and conduct such meetings in accordance with the guidance detailed in the model risk assessment (see Appendix 1). Every attempt should be made to ensure the safety and security needs of both staff and pupils.
- 17.2 In the case of individual music lessons with Visiting Music Teachers (VMTs), the Music School Manager should ensure that all the VMTs have read and understood this Code of Conduct, particularly in relation to physical contact (see section 13).
- 17.3 Staff should not arrange meetings with pupils in remote, secluded areas of School. They should ensure that there is visual access and/or an open door in one-to-one situations. Should a child become distressed, anxious, or angry during such a meeting, or should anything happen which could be misinterpreted or give rise to a concern, this must be reported via a Low-Level Concern (see section 27) and a written report detailing the incident kept on the child's file.
- 17.4 Some pupils may be reluctant to end the pupil-staff relationship they have enjoyed whilst at School. When a pupil leaves School the professional duty of care ends, however, it is important to continue to maintain professional standards of behaviour. Although current and former pupils may request meetings with staff for help with university applications, gap year advice or references for future careers, these meetings and any associated correspondence should be conducted at School within office hours and in a professional manner.

18. Transporting Children

- 18.1 In certain situations, e.g. out of School activities, staff may agree to transport children.
- 18.2 Staff should only transport pupils in a private vehicle in exceptional circumstances, such as a medical emergency. If it is unavoidable, staff should always seek approval from the DSL and/or the Educational Visits Coordinator (EVC) and obtain parental consent before doing so.
- 18.3 For journeys in hired cars, and (in exceptional circumstances) a car belonging to a member of staff, the School has 'Occasional Business Use' insurance, which covers the use of such vehicles on behalf of the employer. For journeys using minibuses, please see the guidance in the School's Educational Visits Policy.
- 18.4 Staff should:
 - plan and agree arrangements with all parties, including parents and the EVC, in advance;
 - ensure that they are alone with a child for the minimum time possible. Wherever possible, another adult should accompany;
 - identify the transport arrangements in the trip risk assessment, which must be signed off by the EVC and the DSL;
 - be aware that the safety and welfare of the child is their responsibility until this is safely passed over to a parent / carer;
 - ensure that when (in exceptional circumstances) travelling in a private car, that pupils fill the back seats first, and a pupil sits next to the driver only if this is unavoidable;
 - for fixtures, staff should also see the guidance in the 'Away Sports Fixtures' Policy.

19. Boarding, Educational Visits, Sports and After School Activities

- 19.1 Staff should take particular care when supervising pupils in the less formal atmosphere of a residential setting or after-School activity.
- 19.2 During School activities that take place off the School site, or on the School site but out of school hours (including boarding and social events, such as society dinners), staff remain in a position of trust and need to ensure that their behaviour cannot be interpreted as seeking to establish an inappropriate relationship or friendship, and that they maintain high standards of professional conduct and remember their position as role models at all times.
- 19.3 Any physical contact should be restricted to occasions when it is absolutely necessary (for example: when breaking up a fight between two pupils; dressing a wound; taking a pupil's temperature; or intervening to prevent a pupil from putting themself in danger; or comforting a pupil in a state of distress) or when playing a contact sport, where the contact should be proportionate and as befits the activity and accounts for any physical mismatches between the staff member and the pupils.
- 19.4 Where out of School activities include overnight stays, careful consideration needs to be given to sleeping arrangements. Pupils, staff, and parents should be informed of these prior to the start of the trip. Staff should always be accommodated in separate rooms to pupils, with access to separate washing and toilet facilities; on the rare occasions where separate washing and

toilet facilities cannot be guaranteed this must be appropriately risk assessed and control measures implemented (e.g. setting times for their use, stationing a member of staff outside the door when staff are using the facilities).

- 19.5 The following protocols apply in all situations, including society/club dinners, within the boarding houses, on School trips and during foreign exchanges involving an overnight stay, including where St Paul's staff are overseeing the hosting of foreign exchange pupils:
 - The consumption of alcohol by staff (SPS & SPJ) must at all times be in line with the SPS & SPJ Alcohol policy;
 - Members of staff who attend any School event (whether on duty or not) involving any pupils, St Paul's or otherwise, must abstain from alcohol on the day of the event until the completion of the event when pupils have departed and professional responsibilities have been discharged, and there are no longer any pupils in their care;
 - All members of staff involved in a School trip must abstain from alcohol for the duration of the trip;
 - Pupils may not consume alcohol on the School site at any time, or at any School organised or related event/activity off-site. This applies equally to pupils who are 18 or over;
 - Alcohol must not be made available at any on-site or off-site School run event where pupils are present;
 - Staff should not take pupils on trips, organise out of School activities, or entertain a pupil or pupils in a restaurant or other social venue, or in School, except as part of an organised School function or trip, for which permission should be sought in advance in line with normal School procedures.
- 19.6 In addition, the following protocols should be observed in all but emergency situations (for example: fire evacuation; where there is immediate concern for a pupil's safety or state of mind; where you suspect a pupil or pupils might be consuming alcohol or using drugs):
 - Members of staff should refrain from being in washrooms, changing rooms or toilets when pupils are, or might be, in them in a state of undress. Where it is essential to get a message to or from a pupil who is in a washroom, changing room or toilet, the staff member should ask another pupil to convey the message.
 - When checking on a pupil in his room, or wishing to speak to him, the member of staff should always knock and wait for the pupil to say when they are happy for them to open the door. Pupils will have been instructed to say, "please wait" or "come in" promptly as appropriate. If a pupil does not answer (for example if asleep), the member of staff must identify themselves to the pupil as about to enter before opening the door.
 - If a pupil is in a state of undress when a member of staff opens the door, the member of staff should promptly withdraw from the room, instructing the pupil to get dressed before they return and then return after a specified period of time, sufficient to allow the pupil to get dressed.
- 19.7 As far as possible, any planned meetings with pupils should take place in an office, classroom or public area and the member of staff should maintain an appropriate distance from the pupil. A member of staff should not generally enter beyond the doorway of a pupil's bedroom: the

majority of actions that a supervising staff member will be required to undertake (for instance, checking pupils are in their rooms; checking on good order; finding a pupil to arrange a longer conversation; conducting short conversations about academic work) can and should be accomplished without entering beyond the room's doorway. Where there is a compelling safety, welfare, or operational reason why the staff member must enter the room, the door must be propped open and the pupil/s within must have signalled that they are happy for the member of staff to come in. The member of staff must respect and bear in mind the privacy and personal space of the pupil/s concerned, under no circumstances sitting on their bed, and should leave the room as swiftly as the task allows. Time spent within a pupil room in this way should be noted with the Housemaster/Trip Leader, or where the matter was more than a brief operational task, entered as a Low-Level Concern (see section 27).

- 19.8 Health and Safety arrangements require members of staff to keep colleagues/employers aware of their whereabouts, especially when involved in an out of School activity. Staff must be aware of and follow the guidance in the School's policy for Health and Safety of Pupils on Educational Visits.
- 19.9 In addition, for trips involving pupils from St Paul's Juniors, staff must adhere to the following guidelines as well as the points above:
 - Support staff should not be left in sole charge of pupils except where it has been previously agreed as part of the risk assessment;
 - Support staff should not be involved in night-time supervision or in dealing directly with pupil discipline. Disciplinary issues should be referred to the trip leader or to another experienced member of the teaching staff who is accompanying the trip;
 - Duty rotas should be clear and in writing.
- 19.10 If, at any point on the trip, a member of staff is concerned that a pupil is suffering harm or is at risk of harm, the matter should be referred to the DSL as soon as possible or, in their absence, a Deputy DSL. If at any point there is a risk of immediate serious harm to a child a referral should be made to children's social care immediately (within one working day). Anybody can make a referral.

20. First Aid and Administration of Medication

- 20.1 Information about pupils with acute allergies and/or medical needs is available on iSAMS. An updated list of these pupils is circulated to all academic staff at the beginning of each academic year.
- 20.2 In the event of an untrained member of staff finding themselves in an emergency situation requiring urgent medical attention, they should contact 999 immediately and ask for the appropriate emergency service.
- 20.3 The School has a number of trained first aiders (see the list on the Intranet). Teachers may volunteer to undertake this task but it is not a contractual requirement. Staff should receive appropriate training before administering first aid or medication. In particular, staff who might have to administer Emergency Medication (such as an epi-pen) should receive appropriate

training before leading an off-site visit or trip involving one or more pupils who have to carry Emergency Medication.

- 20.4 Under normal circumstances in School, all medication should be administered by the School Nurse or Doctor or by the child themself in the presence of the School Nurse or Doctor. The exception to this is that pupils can carry and administer their own prescription medication, emergency medication or over-the-counter medication if they do so in a responsible manner, ensure that it is solely for their own personal use and follow the directions on the packet.
- 20.5 For School trips, explicit parental consent should be obtained before giving any medication to a pupil, even over-the-counter medicines such as paracetamol, ibuprofen, or antihistamine. Such consent can be received by any means: letter/telephone/email/text message.
- 20.6 Should prescription medication be required during a School trip, the member of staff responsible for the trip should obtain a copy of the Medication Form from the School Nurse in advance of the trip.
- 20.7 Controlled Drugs are those which, under the Misuse of Drugs Regulations (2001), must be locked away appropriately and strictly monitored and recorded in a dedicated book as they are used. Should controlled drugs be required during a School trip, the staff member responsible for the trip should remain in possession of the medication and ensure that it is securely kept at all times and only administered as per the prescription and in the presence of another member of staff.
- 20.8 Further information is available from the First Aid Policy which is available on the School website and the Staff Handbook page of the School's intranet.
- 20.9 When administering first aid, wherever possible, staff should ensure that another adult is present, or is aware of the action being taken. The School Nurse and the boy's parents should always be informed when first aid has been administered.
- 20.10 Any member of staff who is from time-to-time prescribed medication by a doctor should inform the doctor of their responsibilities and check whether any side effects might affect their ability to carry out these responsibilities. St Paul's staff should then inform the Surmaster and St Paul's Juniors staff should inform the Senior Deputy Head so that a risk assessment can be carried out and any reasonable adjustments made to their working environment or responsibilities while they remain on the course of treatment.

21. The Curriculum

21.1 Some areas of the curriculum will include or raise subject matter which is of a sexual or of an otherwise sensitive nature (e.g. depression, self-harm, eating disorders, domestic violence, bullying, etc). Care should be taken to ensure that resource materials cannot be misinterpreted and clearly relate to the learning outcomes identified when planning lessons. Those with less experience should seek guidance from a senior member of staff, such as their Head of Department or the DSL.

- 21.2 The curriculum will sometimes include or lead to unplanned discussion about subject matter of a sexual or otherwise sensitive nature (e.g. depression, self-harm, eating disorders, domestic violence, etc). Responding to pupils' questions will require careful judgement and staff should take guidance before lessons with this potential from a senior member of staff. Members of staff should be aware of the potential for sexual education classes to be misused for 'grooming' purposes and should avoid over-sexualised and/or unnecessarily graphic teaching materials and/or conversations. If in doubt about the acceptability of any content, advice must be sought from the DSL.
- 21.3 Be aware that such discussions might affect particular pupils more than others (for example, if a pupil has suffered a related traumatic experience). Where a discussion takes a course that makes you feel uncomfortable or appears to make a pupil feel uncomfortable, report it via a Low-Level Concern (see section 27) as soon as possible. The circumstances should be recorded in writing as soon as possible and, if appropriate, a copy placed on the child's file.
- 21.4 Parents have the right to withdraw their children from the sex-based elements of the school's RSE provision up to and until three terms before their child turns 16. After that point, if the child wishes to receive sex education rather than be withdrawn, the school will make arrangement to provide appropriate catch up. The right to withdraw does not apply to Relationships Education, Health Education or any part of the Science curriculum that deals with the biological aspects of human growth and reproduction.
- 21.5 Further guidance can be found in the Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) Policy, which is published on the Staff Handbook page of the intranet. At St Paul's Juniors, guidance can be found in the St Paul's Juniors Relationships and Sex Education Policy, which is published on the School's website.
- 21.6 All members of staff should avoid any behaviour in the teaching of any subject which might lead any reasonable person to interpret their actions or words as promoting partisan political views in the School. At any point where political issues are brought to the attention of pupils, staff should take any steps as are reasonably practicable to ensure pupils are offered a balanced presentation of opposing views.

22. Photography, Videos, and other media

22.1 Staff are only allowed to take digital/video images involving pupils to support educational aims, for publicity purposes or to celebrate achievement. Images and other media must only be made and/or stored on School devices; the use of personal devices (including personal phones) is not allowed. Staff need to be aware that there is potential for the capturing of images on a personal device (including a phone), and/or for the storing of images of pupils in a private location, to be misconstrued. For example, capturing and storing images of particular pupils in certain contexts may raise concerns about 'grooming'. Careful consideration should always be given as to how activities are organised and undertaken. Staff should ensure that children are appropriately dressed and are comfortable that their image is being recorded.

- 22.2 Using images of children for publicity purposes will require the consent of the parents of the individual concerned. Images should not be displayed on websites, in publications or in a public place without such consent. Staff should not post any images on any personal social media. The definition of a public place includes areas where visitors to the School have access.
- 22.3 Parents are requested to give their permission for the use of pupils' photographs on the School's intranet, website, or social media as part of their registration for the School. The permission applies throughout their time at School and for three years after leaving and parents have the right to alter their consent at any time. The school's marketing and communications department manages the list of those parents who have not provided consent for senior school pupils; the SPJ Director of Computing manages the equivalent list for St Paul's Juniors. The consent list must be checked in advance before posting any images of a child on social media channels. Even where parental permission is granted, the following guidelines from the Department of Education should be adhered to: "If the pupil is named, avoid using the photograph. If the photograph is used, avoid naming the pupil". We will not normally use children's full names alongside their photographs in our own printed publications, in videos or on our website. However, pupils' first names may be used and their full names may be given in group situations where they cannot be linked to individuals in the photograph. In cases where it is necessary for the sake of the article to include a photograph that would directly identify an individual pupil, parental consent must be sought and received before the article is published.
- 22.4 School mobile devices must be used if recording digital/video images involving pupils. Any digital/video images of pupils recorded on a School mobile device must be uploaded to the appropriated shared area of the School network (i.e. the Digital Asset Management System or DAMS contact the Marketing team for further details) then deleted from the School device as soon as is practically possible.

Photographs of children must not be stored on a member of staff's personal drive on the network, or departmental drives, for longer than is necessary to complete a particular task (for example, when producing a PowerPoint presentation for an assembly).

22.5 Any images which might be considered sexually suggestive, demeaning, or otherwise inappropriate in any way should be actively deleted. Additionally, staff should not take images of a child's injury, bruising or similar (e.g. following a disclosure of abuse), even if requested by children's social care; or make audio recordings of a child's disclosure.

23. Use of the School IT Systems, Including Internet Use and Digital Communication with Pupils

- 23.1 As part of our safeguarding policy we expect staff and pupils and, where appropriate, parents, to follow this protocol when using PCs and mobile devices. All of the advice contained in other sections of this Code applies equally in the digital realm. In addition, there are other risks, specific to the use of PCs, mobile devices, software applications and the internet, that need to be understood by those who work with schoolchildren.
- 23.2 All members of staff are required to have read and to follow the School's ICT Acceptable Use Policy, mobile devices policy, e-Safety policy and Social Media policy. All staff are prohibited

from befriending St Paul's or St Paul's Juniors pupils via social media (such as Facebook and Instagram). An invitation to become a friend or similar should be politely but firmly declined and the member of staff should remind the pupil of the School rules relating to social media and personal contact details. Email, messaging or use of social media between staff and pupils outside agreed protocols may lead to disciplinary action and/or criminal investigations. Friend requests from the parents of current pupils should be politely declined, with a reminder of the more formal channels which they can use to discuss their child's education.

- 23.3 Our relevant policies and this code apply to all practice in connection with your work at the School, regardless of whether this is conducted over a School machine, a School system, on your own device or over systems belonging to you or a third party.
- 23.4 The ICT Acceptable Use Policy provides the following advice:

All staff must recognise that once something is posted online it has a persistence that is not like something that is said. It is also replicable and searchable (directly and through its metadata), and you cannot be sure who your audience is or will be. Once something is posted online, its effects are often magnified and can be mirrored out of context. For example, Hashtags can link your content to other content with the same hashtag; retweeting a post can be viewed as a public sign of endorsement, which may be inappropriate in some circumstances. All of this requires experience to understand. Remember: when you post, you have not only your own reputation to consider but also that of others and that of the School. Every member of the community has to take responsibility for his or her actions online. If you are in doubt, it is best not to post, send an email, etc. We encourage staff to use digital technologies but to do so in an informed, thoughtful way that is fully consistent with the position of trust we occupy. The School promotes responsible participation with pupils through such means and this may involve sites or apps where users create profiles, form relationships, and share information. Contact of this kind can enhance learning and personal development and can help to ensure supervision and safeguarding of pupils, as well as encouraging them to interact appropriately in the digital realm. However, staff must ensure that any such contact does not breach the guidance provided in sections 10 (Propriety and Behaviour) and 12 (Social Contact) above.

23.5 Staff should ensure that they understand the tools they are using, the implications of any privacy and sharing settings, and, on a site-by-site basis, the terms and parameters of any connections or networks made. In particular, be sensitive to the potential for a relationship with a pupil to be misunderstood or misrepresented by the pupil or misrepresented by the terminology or interface of a given online platform. Be aware that pupils will be naturally curious about your personal life outside School and may try to find out more about you. Staff should ensure their settings prohibit others from tagging them in any photos or updates without their permission and be proactive in asking others to remove any undesirable content related to them. Social media sites often update their privacy settings and may add new features. Staff are advised to revisit their privacy settings on a regular basis to ensure they remain effective. When joining or being added to a Facebook (or other social media) group, always check whether it is public, closed (where anyone can see the members of the group but not the discussion) or secret (where neither the members or the discussion are visible).

- 23.6 Certain sites and apps may lend themselves in a straightforward way to use at School, irrespective of whether this is by adults or pupils (e.g. a social app that records running). Others may require the creation of a separate account (e.g. 'X') for teaching purposes, or a thorough and careful understanding of the settings needed to ensure that pupils see only what they wish them to see (e.g. Facebook, Flickr). Staff who use sites such as Facebook should ensure maximum privacy settings.
- 23.7 Particular awareness is necessary of issues associated with the words deployed to describe the establishment of contacts and networks on-line: there are innumerable ways, across countless sites, of defining or describing contacts and connections. For example, Facebook has distorted the usual understanding of the term "friending", and there are "circles" on Google.
- 23.8 Where a site or app is used in the course of a School activity or with a class, it is recommended that the idea is talked through with the Director of Digital Learning & Innovation first: they will be able to advise and, if necessary, will take the matter to the High Master/Surmaster or Head. Pupils participating in such activities must not be identifiable in any way that puts them at risk. Where contributions and/or comments are created by pupils, the teacher in charge accepts full responsibility for the monitoring and moderating of the site or app and will treat any issues arising appropriately.
- 23.9 In any professional capacity, staff must not use pseudonyms or post anonymously, though it is good practice to signal any School-related account as being distinct from a personal account (by using your title and surname, or School role or designation, e.g. Ms Smith, SPS English Teacher). Staff must ensure they do not claim or appear to claim to represent or speak in the name of the School except where specific permission to do so has been given by the High Master/Surmaster or Head. A School email address should never be used for any personal use of social media.
- 23.10 There should be no communications between staff and pupils on personal social media. Electronic communications between staff and pupils should be conducted on School systems, such as School email, or the School virtual learning environment. Exceptions to this can only be made via application to the DSL and e-Safety Officers.
- 23.11 Staff should at all times be aware of their obligations to keep appropriate records of contact with pupils and to work in an obviously open and transparent manner when communicating with pupils. In particular, staff should recognise the difficulties presented by certain messaging platforms, such as private direct messaging (e.g. via WhatsApp, Slack, etc.) and make use of School-based platforms. If a pupil messages a member of staff privately, the communication should be re-directed to a School-based platform (e.g. School email) and any concerns reported via a Low-Level Concern (see section 27).
- 23.12 Staff may, of course, choose to use social sites and apps in a personal capacity. It remains the case that 'when you post, you have not only your own reputation to consider but also that of others and that of the School'. You may wish to say where you work and what you do. Many people who do this include a disclaimer along the lines of, 'the views expressed here are my own and not my employer's'. Such a disclaimer in no way dispenses with the need to exercise good judgement and care in what you say and do online.

- 23.13 All staff must understand the standards of behaviour expected of them. Breaches of these standards may result in disciplinary action. Such breaches might include, but are not restricted to: failure to comply with the law or relevant regulatory bodies; communication of confidential or personal information; defamation or disparagement of the School or School community and its members; harassment or bullying; failure to comply with our policy concerning the use and distribution of images. The School's Disciplinary Procedure (Conduct) document gives specific examples of inappropriate use of the internet which may constitute gross misconduct. Under no circumstances should adults in School access inappropriate images. Accessing child pornography or indecent images of children on the internet, and making, storing, or disseminating such material, is illegal and, if proven, will lead to the individual being barred from working with children and young people.
- 23.14 While members of staff are provided with a School email account for professional use, it is recommended that they also have a separate account with the provider of their choice for personal email communications. During the School day our primary focus should be the education and welfare of pupils and any personal correspondence or business should not substantively inhibit or conflict with that focus.
- 23.15 In all things, staff should act with consideration and with an awareness of the trust invested in them for the safeguarding of pupils. Moreover, staff should be proactive in promoting good online practice by every member of the community. Your judgement will be informed by your experience, prior training, character, and the context of any given situation, but it must also be informed by your professional obligations. Where you have concerns about a pupil's behaviour online, including if you feel you are the victim of cyberbullying or inappropriate comments photos or posts, or if you believe your own actions may be misinterpreted, you should immediately inform and take guidance from the Director of Digital Learning & Innovation and submit a Low-Level Concern (see section 27). Should you receive any abusive messages, it is advisable not to delete them but to keep a record of them to facilitate any subsequent investigation.
- 23.16 Staff engaging in online teaching & learning should display the same standards that they would in the real world; they should also role model this to pupils and parents. Specific guidance on safe remote working can be found within the Integrated Safeguarding Portfolio (<u>here</u>) section of the Staff Handbook.

24. Whistleblowing

- 24.1 Whistleblowing is the mechanism by which staff can voice their concerns, made in good faith, without fear of repercussion. The School has a Whistleblowing code, published in the Staff Handbook that meets the terms of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 and aims to support staff in appropriately reporting any such concerns.
- 24.2 Staff members are expected to understand and take seriously their individual responsibilities to bring matters of concern to the attention of senior management and, where necessary, relevant external agencies. This includes concerns about the behaviour of another staff member in

addition to concerns about poor or unsafe practices or potential failures in the School's safeguarding regime.

25. Sharing Concerns and Recording Incidents

- 25.1 The welfare of the child is paramount. All staff should be aware of the School's Safeguarding and Child Protection policy (available via the Staff Handbook on the School intranet), including procedures for dealing with allegations against staff. Staff who are the subject of allegations are advised to contact their professional association.
- 25.2 In the event of an incident occurring, which may result in an action being misinterpreted and/or a spurious allegation being made against a member of staff, the relevant information should be clearly and promptly recorded and shared with the High Master (or in their absence, the Chair of Governors) in accordance with the School's Safeguarding and Child Protection policy. Early discussion with a parent or carer could avoid any misunderstanding. At St Paul's Juniors such information should be shared with the Head (or in their absence, the High Master).
- 25.3 Members of staff should feel able to discuss with their Head of Department or a member of senior management any difficulties or problems that may affect their relationship with pupils so that appropriate support can be provided, or action can be taken.
- 25.4 All staff have a duty to report any child protection concerns to the DSL, or in their absence, a Deputy DSL.

26. Disclosure and Barring Service Checks

26.1 All staff are subject to an enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service check before taking up their position at the School. It is the responsibility of members of staff to inform the High Master (SPS staff) or Head (SPJ staff) in confidence if they are charged with a criminal offence whilst in the employment of the School. Staff must notify the High Master (SPS staff) or Head (SPJ staff) immediately of anything that affects their suitability, including any cautions, warnings, convictions, orders, or other determinations made in respect of them that would render them disqualified from working with children.

27. Low-Level Concerns

- 27.1 As part of our whole School approach to safeguarding we wish to promote an open and transparent culture in which all concerns about all adults working on behalf of the School (including supply teachers, volunteers, and contractors) are dealt with promptly and appropriately. Creating a culture in which all concerns are shared responsibly and with the right person, and recorded and dealt with appropriately, is critical.
- 27.2 There may be occasions where something occurs which is out of the ordinary and which causes a member of staff to have doubts about the behaviour of another adult towards a pupil or another child or concerns about how their own behaviour might be misinterpreted. It is important that any concerns, or incidents which might give rise to concerns about the conduct

of staff, are reported to the High Master (SPS)/Head (SPJ) and DSL, however minor. In the vast majority of cases, there will be a perfectly innocent explanation for what has occurred, and staff should not feel that making a report, or being the subject of a report, will cause them to suffer any detriment or stigma where this is the case. Reporting of these types of concerns is a neutral act, and the High Master (SPS)/Head (SPJ) and DSL will, on receipt of a report, determine how to best approach the issue.

- 27.3 A concern of this nature is called a 'Low-Level Concern'. The term 'Low-Level Concern' does not mean that it is insignificant, it means that the behaviour towards a child does not meet the threshold of harm. A Low-Level Concern is any concern no matter how small, but still the cause of a sense of unease or a 'nagging doubt' that an adult working in or on behalf of the School may have acted in a way that is inconsistent with the staff code of conduct.
- 27.4 A Low-Level Concern should be used by staff where they are at all concerned about the behaviour of an adult, not just where it is clear that a role or professional boundary has been broken. The purpose of such reporting is to protect both pupils, and the staff working with them, and allows a system for a simple record to be kept in case events are later referred to or any patterns emerge. In this way we can:
 - address unprofessional behaviour, and support the individual to correct it at an early stage;
 - provide a responsive, sensitive, and proportionate handling of such concerns when they are raised;
 - help identify any weakness in the School's safeguarding system.
- 27.5 The Low-Level Concern system also enables staff to self-report, as well as to report on other staff members. It is accepted that there are occasions when School staff, as professionals, have to make decisions to act in a particular way in order to protect the health, safety, and welfare of their pupils. This may, in some cases, put the adult in a vulnerable position and cause the adult, with hindsight, to consider that on reflection they might not act in the same way in a similar situation in future. In this scenario, staff must submit a Low-Level Concern.

A Low-Level Concern may be made in person to the DSL, High Master, or Head (as appropriate) or on the Low-Level Concern Form available on the staff handbook page on the intranet. If the notification is made in person in the first instance, staff may be required to complete a Low-Level Concern Form later.

- 27.6 Examples of circumstances in which staff must submit a Low-Level Concern are as follows:
 - witness a colleague being over familiar with pupils;
 - know that a colleague has favourites amongst those they teach;
 - become aware that a colleague has images of pupils on personal devices;
 - email, messaging, use of social media sites or other communication between a colleague and pupils outside agreed protocols;
 - if a staff member becomes involved in an intimate or sexual relationship with a former St Paul's pupil, regardless of the age of the (former) pupil;
 - any incident where, for whatever reason, you believe a member of staff has not complied with this Code of Conduct;

- any social contact with pupils outside of School (other than planned/authorised events, educational visits or trips, or trivial incidents such as passing a pupil in the street or the supermarket or noticing that they are sitting, separately, in the same restaurant or cinema) particularly where the member of staff and /or pupil(s) is/are under the influence of alcohol;
- the fact of, and explanation for, any one-to-one contact with a pupil on School trips, particularly if this takes place in a bedroom or other private space;
- any incident of physical contact with a pupil when no one else is present, including when administering first aid or medical treatment (School medical staff are exempt from this requirement), and including physical demonstrations in one-to-one sports coaching, music lessons, etc;
- any incident where a staff member feels that their own actions or behaviour towards a pupil, or that of another adult, may have been misinterpreted or may have given rise to a risk of misinterpretation.

This is not intended to be an exhaustive list. Anything which causes staff to have a 'nagging doubt' about the way in which other adults behave or interact with pupils should be notified, in order to protect both pupils and the members of staff involved.

27.7 Where a member of staff, or a member of their family, has an established family friendship/relationship with a current parent and/or current pupil this should be formally declared at the start of each academic year via an annual Low-Level Concern 'Declaration of Interests'. Once declared this removes the need for informal social contact associated with such friendships/relationships to be reported using the Low-Level Concern system.

28. Appearance

- 28.1 Staff should ensure that they are dressed decently, safely, and appropriately for the tasks they undertake; this applies equally to online or virtual teaching. It is important that staff maintain a professional appearance at all times when pupils are present on site. Line managers are responsible for ensuring that staff observe the standards set by this dress code.
- 28.2 All members of staff are supplied with an identity badge that must be worn and visible at all times when on site for security reasons, whether in or out of term-time.
- 28.3 The normal dress code for female teaching and office-based staff is smart office wear, which may include shirt/blouse, trousers, skirt, suits, and dresses.
- 28.4 The normal dress code for male teaching and office-based staff is a suit (or blazer and smart trousers), worn with a shirt and tie. Ties need not be worn in the summer term or where doing so would pose a health and safety risk (for example during science practical lessons or when operating machinery).
- 28.5 Staff may wear religious and cultural dress (including clerical collars, head scarves, skullcaps, and turbans).

- 28.6 Jeans and trainers should not be worn in term-time except on official 'non-uniform' days. Outside term-time, a more informal dress code is acceptable, though staff should be mindful of the need to project a professional appearance when hosting visitors on site, or, for example, when conducting interviews.
- 28.7 It is inappropriate in a School setting at any time to wear casual clothing such as cut-off shorts, crop tops, see-through material or clothes that expose areas of the body normally covered at work. Similarly, staff should not wear excessive or unconventional clothing, t-shirts with inappropriate slogans or excessive branding, or jewellery that could present a health and safety risk. Footwear must take account of health and safety considerations; for example, flip-flops should not be worn. Staff should consult their line manager if specific clothing is required for a medical issue (such as, for example, a request to wear shorts due to a plaster required for a broken leg).
- 28.8 Tattoos that include imagery and/or text that are inappropriate for a School setting should remain covered at all times.
- 28.9 PE staff and those who assist with the coaching of games activities may wear suitable sports apparel to facilitate instruction and supervision of these activities. For fixtures, male staff responsible for teams are expected to wear suit (or blazer) and tie, and female staff smart outdoor wear, unless involved in refereeing or otherwise officiating, where sports apparel is more suitable.
- 28.10 Staff involved in manual labour (such as the Grounds, Estates and Services staff) may wear clothing appropriate to their professional role. Contractors will wear clothing suitable for their role, which will be agreed in advance, and which does not contravene the direction given above.
- 28.11 Where there is a requirement to use safety clothing and equipment, it should be worn or used as appropriate and directed.
- 28.12 In the event of a dispute on any aspect of the dress code, St Paul's staff should consult with the Surmaster, St Paul's Juniors with the Senior Deputy Head of SPJ and Support staff with the Director of Operations.

29. Infatuations and Crushes

- 29.1 All staff need to recognise that it is not uncommon for pupils to be strongly attracted to a member of staff and/or develop a 'crush' or infatuation. They should make every effort to ensure that their own behaviour cannot be brought into question, does not appear to encourage this and be aware that such infatuations may carry a risk of their words or actions being misinterpreted.
- 29.2 Any member of staff who receives a report, overhears something, or otherwise notices any sign, however small or seemingly insignificant, that a young person has become or may be becoming infatuated with either themselves or a colleague, should immediately report this to the DSL via a Low-Level Concern (see section 27). In this way appropriate early intervention can be taken which can prevent escalation and avoid hurt, embarrassment or distress for those concerned.

29.3 The DSL will give careful thought to those circumstances where the staff member, pupil and their parents/carers should be spoken to and will ensure a plan to manage the situation is put in place. This plan will respond sensitively to the child and staff member and maintain the dignity of all. This plan will involve all parties, be robust and regularly monitored and reviewed.

30. Home visits

- 30.1 All work with pupils and parents should usually be undertaken in the School or in public places. There are however occasions, in response to an urgent, planned, or specific situation or job role, where it is necessary to make one-off or regular home visits. Such situations must be identified to the DSL in advance, and a risk assessment must be put in place to safeguard both staff and pupils.
- 30.2 A risk management plan will be agreed prior to any planned home visit taking place. The plan will take account of any known factors regarding the pupil, parents/carers and any others living in the household.
- 30.3 Particular consideration will be given to any circumstances which might render the staff member becoming more vulnerable to an allegation being made e.g. hostility, child protection concerns, complaints, or grievances. Specific thought will be given to visits outside of 'office hours' or in remote or secluded locations. In the unlikely event that little or no information is available, visits will not be made alone.

31. Exposure to inappropriate images

- 31.1 Staff should take extreme care to ensure that children and young people are not exposed, through any medium, to inappropriate or indecent images.
- 31.2 There are no circumstances that will justify adults: making, downloading, possessing, or distributing indecent images or pseudo-images of children (child abuse images). Accessing these images, whether using the settings or personal equipment, on or off the premises, or making, storing, or disseminating such material is illegal.
- 31.3 If indecent images of children are discovered at the School or on the School's equipment or setting's equipment an immediate referral will be made to the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) and the police. The images/equipment will be secured and there will be no attempt to view or delete the images as this could jeopardise necessary criminal action. If the images are of children known to the School, a referral will also be made to children's social care in line with local arrangements.
- 31.4 Under no circumstances should any adult use School equipment to access pornography. Personal equipment containing pornography or links to it should never be brought into or used in School. Further information can be found in the Acceptable Use Policy. This would raise serious concerns about the suitability of the adult to continue working with children and young people. Staff should keep their passwords confidential and not allow unauthorised access to equipment. In the event of any indecent images of children or unsuitable material being

discovered on a device the equipment should not be tampered with in any way. It must be secured and isolated from the network, and the LADO must be contacted without delay. School staff should not attempt to investigate the matter or evaluate the material themselves as this may lead to a contamination of evidence and a possibility that they will be at risk of prosecution themselves.

32. Personal living accommodation (including on-site provision)

32.1 Staff, or the family members of those who live on-site, should not invite any pupils into their living accommodation unless the reason to do so has been firmly established and agreed in advance with the DSL and the pupil's parents/carers. It is not generally appropriate for staff to use their private living space for any School activity, play or learning that involves pupils visiting or spending time in their private living accommodation. This includes seeing pupils for e.g. discussion of reports, academic reviews, private tuition, social events, pastoral care, or counselling. Likewise, pupils should not be asked or invited to assist staff with private or personal jobs or tasks, either for or without reward, at or in their private accommodation.



Appendix 1

One to One Supervision Risk Assessment

Date: (1)	Assessed by: (2)	Validated by: (3)	Location: (4)	Assessment ref no (5	5) Revie	ew date: (6)		
06/24	SM	DSL	School wide	Not Required	08/2	5		
Task: (7)		•	•	•				
interviews with ind - The welfar - Staff shou - Staff are r motivation - Staff shou	 This Risk Assessment covers 1 to 1 supervision which might take place around the School. This includes formal activities such as individual music lessons, interviews with individual pupils, and ad hoc meetings. This should be read in conjunction with the Staff Code of Conduct. Underpinning principles: The welfare of the child is paramount Staff should understand their responsibilities to safeguard and promote the welfare of pupils 							
Activity	Hazard	Person(s) in	Existing measures & Require	ements to control	Risk rating	Result		
(8)	(9)	danger (10)	risk (11)		(12)	(13)		

Planned/unplanned 'one-to-	-	Inappropriate	Pupils, staff	-	ensure that wherever possible there is visual	Medium	A
one' situations (such as music		behaviour not			access and/or an open door in one-to-one		
lessons, programmed meetings,		witnessed by a			situations		
medical consultations, use of		third party		-	avoid use of 'engaged' or equivalent signs		
communal washroom/WC	-	Behaviour			wherever possible. Such signs may create an		
facilities during School trips)		misconstrued			opportunity for secrecy or the interpretation		
		by either party			of secrecy		
	-	Distress/loss of		-	always report any situation where a pupil		
		trust			becomes distressed, anxious, or angry		
				-	consider the needs and circumstances of the		
					pupil involved		
				-	If a private conversation, staff should consider		
					moving to a different room.		
				-	Blinds over window panels in doors should be		
					up. Windows should not be obscured by		
					coats/academic gowns/posters, etc.		
				-	Arrange the meeting during published School		
					operating hours when there are plenty of		
					other people about;		
				-	do not continue the meeting for any longer		
					than is necessary to achieve its purposes;		
				-	avoid sitting or standing in close proximity to		
					the pupil, except as necessary to check work,		
					wherever possible ensure there is a physical		
					barrier between pupil and teacher (table or		
					table leg, chair, etc);		
				-	avoid all unnecessary physical contact such as		
					touching or patting and apologise and move		

 away straight away if there is accidental physical contact; avoid any conduct that could be taken as a sexual advance; Induction: all staff referred to the Code of Conduct and Safeguarding Policy. All staff issued with "Keeping Children Safe in Education" and "What to do if you are worried a child is being abused 2015 - Advice for practitioners" on induction All staff reminded of their duties during one-
 Protection, or a willingness to undertake the training, is a requirement of the VMT Contract to Use Facilities. All staff will be required to attend training sessions every 3 years to ensure this qualification is up to date. All staff will be in receipt of the correct vetting checks, including enhanced DBS.

- If staff members have concerns about a
child, they should raise these with the
designated safeguarding lead
- report any situation where a pupil becomes
distressed, anxious, or angry to a Hod/Line
Manager/DSL
- Other members of staff should be aware of
any planned meeting to demonstrate
transparency, particularly if you envisage
any difficulties from your interaction with
the pupil.
- Staff are reminded of the whistleblowing
policy and feel comfortable using it.
- Staff are able to report issues to the DSL, for
safeguarding issues, or High Master/Head
for safeguarding issues relating to staff.
- Wherever possible, avoid being in a
WC/Washroom/Changing room where a
pupil is present and/or
toileting/changing/washing. Where this is
unavoidable, try to stagger times when
staff/pupils use the same facility to minimise
the potential for
embarrassment/misunderstanding. Never
linger in such situations and always make it
clear that you are averting your gaze away
from any pupil in a state of undress. Report
any situation where inadvertent contact of
this kind occurs to the DSL.

 Staff must: ensure that they do not behave in a manner which is either favourable or unfavourable to individual pupils ensure that gifts received or given in situations which may be misconstrued are declared and recorded only give gifts to a pupil as part of an agreed reward system where giving gifts other than as above, ensure that these are of insignificant value and given to all pupils equally 	
 Staff must not: make, or encourage others to make sexual remarks to, or about, a pupil, or use inappropriate language to or in the presence of pupils discuss their personal or sexual relationships with or in the presence of pupils make (or encourage others to make) unprofessional personal comments which scapegoat, demean or humiliate, or might be interpreted as such 	

Social Contact	 Inappropriate relationships outside School Inappropriate behaviour not witnessed by a third party Behaviour misconstrued by either party Distress/loss of trust 	Pupils, staff	 Staff will: politely decline any invitation to attend a pupil's family home unless this has been sanctioned in advance by the DSL. always approve any planned social contact with pupils or parents with senior colleagues, for example when it is part of a reward scheme. advise senior management of any regular social contact they have with a pupil which could give rise to concern. not send personal communications to pupils or parents unless agreed with senior managers. inform senior management of any relationship with a parent where this extends beyond the usual parent/professional relationship. inform senior management of any requests or arrangements where parents wish to use their services outside of the workplace, e.g. babysitting, tutoring. 	Low	Α
----------------	--	---------------	--	-----	---

One-to-one communications	 Inappropriate relationships outside School Inappropriate behaviour not witnessed by a third party Behaviour misconstrued by either party Distress/loss of trust 	Pupils, staff	 This means that adults should: not communicate/make contact or respond to contact with pupils outside of the purposes of their work. not give out their personal details. use only equipment and Internet services provided by the School to communicate with pupils, as agreed with the Director of Digital Learning & Innovation. follow the School's Acceptable Use policy ensure that their use of technologies could not bring the School into disrepute 	Medium	A
---------------------------	--	---------------	--	--------	---

Physical Contact	Inappropriate or	Pupil, staff	- Code of Conduct: "limited touch".	Medium	А
	inadvertent		- Report any inadvertent contact to DSL.		
	physical contact		- be aware that even well-intentioned physical		
			contact may be misconstrued by the pupil, an		
			observer, or any person to whom this action is		
			described		
			- never touch a pupil in a way which may be		
			considered indecent; always be prepared to		
			explain actions and accept that all physical		
			contact will be open to scrutiny		
			- never indulge in horseplay or fun fights		
			- always allow/encourage pupils, where able, to		
			undertake self-care tasks independently		
			- ensure the way they offer comfort to a		
			distressed pupil is age appropriate		
			 always tell a colleague when and how they 		
			offered comfort to a distressed pupil		
			- establish the preferences of pupils		
			- consider alternatives, where it is anticipated		
			that a pupil might misinterpret or be		
			uncomfortable with physical contact		
			 always explain to the pupil the reason why 		
			contact is necessary and what form that		
			contact will take		
			 report and record situations which may give 		
			rise to concern		
			- be aware of cultural or religious views about		
			touching and be sensitive to issues of gender		
<u> </u>					

Home visits	- Inappropriate	Pupils, staff	All staff should:	Low	А
	relationships		- politely decline any invitation to attend a		
	outside School		pupil's family home unless this has been		
	- Inappropriate		sanctioned in advance by the DSL.		
	behaviour not		- agree the purpose for any home visit with		
	witnessed by a		the DSL		
	third party		- adhere to agreed risk management		
	- Behaviour		strategies		
	misconstrued		- ensure there is visual access and/or an open		
	by either party		door in one-to-one situations		
	- Distress/loss of		- always make detailed records including		
	trust		times of arrival and departure		
			- ensure any behaviour or situation which		
			gives rise to concern is discussed with their		
			HoD/Line Manager/DSL		

Transporting pupils	- Inappropriate	Pupils, staff	Staff should:	Low	А
	relationships		- plan and agree arrangements with all parties		
	outside School		in advance		
	- Inappropriate		 respond sensitively and flexibly where any 		
	behaviour not		concerns arise		
	witnessed by a		- take into account any specific or additional		
	third party		needs of the pupil		
	- Behaviour		- have an appropriate licence/permit for the		
	misconstrued		vehicle		
	by either party		- ensure they are fit to drive and free from		
	- Distress/loss of		any drugs, alcohol or medicine which is likely		
	trust		to impair judgement and/ or ability to drive		
			- ensure that if they need to be alone with a		
			pupil this is for the minimum time		
			- be aware that the safety and welfare of the		
			pupil is their responsibility until this is safely		
			passed over to a parent/carer		
			 report the nature of the journey, the route 		
			and expected time of arrival in accordance		
			with agreed procedures		
			 ensure that their behaviour and all 		
			arrangements ensure vehicle, passenger,		
			and driver safety. This includes having		
			proper and appropriate insurance for the		
			type of vehicle being driven		
			 ensure that any impromptu or emergency 		
			arrangements of lifts are recorded and can		
			be justified		

First Aid	 Inappropriate behaviour not witnessed by a third party Behaviour misconstrued by either party Distress/loss of trust 	Pupils, staff	 This means that education settings should: ensure there are trained and named individuals to undertake first aid responsibilities, including paediatric first aid if relevant ensure training is regularly monitored and updated make other staff aware of the task being undertaken have regard to pupils' individual healthcare plan always ensure that an appropriate health/risk assessment is undertaken prior to undertaking certain activities explain to the pupil what is happening. always act and be seen to act in the pupil's best interest make a record of all medications administered not work with pupils whilst taking medication unless medical advice confirms that they are able to do so 	Medium	A
-----------	--	---------------	--	--------	---

Photography, videos, and other images	 Inappropriate relationships Inappropriate behaviour not witnessed by a third party Behaviour misconstrued by either party Distress/loss of trust 	Pupils, staff	 Staff should not: take images of pupils for their personal use display or distribute images of pupils unless they are sure that they have parental consent to do so (and, where appropriate, consent from the child) take images of children using personal equipment. retain images of children on their personal device or within their personal drive on the School network. take images of children in a state of undress or semi-undress take images of children which could be considered as indecent or sexual 	Low	A
--	---	---------------	---	-----	---

Personal living accommodation	- Inappropriate	Pupils, staff	Staff should:
including on site provision	 relationships Inappropriate behaviour not witnessed by a third party Behaviour misconstrued by either party Distress/loss of trust 		 be vigilant in maintaining their privacy, including when living in on-site accommodation be mindful of the need to avoid placing themselves in vulnerable situations refuse any request for their accommodation to be used as an additional resource for the School or setting be mindful of the need to maintain appropriate personal and professional boundaries not ask pupils to undertake jobs or errands for their personal benefit refuse all requests for pupils to enter their accommodation without prior knowledge and approval of the DSL Staff should not invite pupils into their accommodation without the prior knowledge and approval of the High Master (for example, the Head of Boarding hosting a birthday party).